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8T, PETER'S ROMAN CATHOLIC CHURCH

No. 31 Bargelay Strest, New York City. o E%BD
L2 \ _
{at the southeast oorner of Churoh Straet) ié‘NEYO’

Historical Introduction

This is the egesoond St. Peter's Church on thig site, 4 brief hietory
of the founding of the parish, including the building of the first church
is = desirable introduction to a consideration of the present strucﬁuro.

The first St. Peter's wae the first ﬁoman Gatholie Church erected
in New York City; although, as early se 1685, King James II, himself a
Roman Catholic while profeseing to uphold the State religion in England
whioh was Protastant, eent Thomes Dongsan, & Roman Catholic, to be governor
of New York Province, and he permitted servioes to be held secretly in
Fort James, at the foot of Broadwaey in 1687. During the Dongen ad@ministration,
the firat Roman Catholic families settled in this clty; but the prejudlce
againet them was so strong, - after the abdication of King James in the
Protestant Revolution of 1688 im England, which had its repercussions in the
Isielar Rebellion in New England and New York in 18892, - that oppreseive
lawe werae paesed against Catholics under aubeesquent governore until the
American Revolutlon and the psesage of the Conetitution of New York State
in 1777. After the war, when the indepsndenca of this country wes acknowledged,
full tolerstion wae enjoyed, and every mmn wae sllowed to worship God accord-
ing to the dictatee of his own conscienoce,.

See Chronology in Stokes's Iconography of Manhattan Ialand,
Vol. IV, under those datés.

The Roman Catholios in New York City took immediste adventazs of this,
and in November 1783,a congrecation was formed under the minietry of Rev,
Andrew Nugent, who, it ie believed, was sent there by the Bishop of the
Romen Cathelic Church in Karyland. Thelr place of worehlp was in & building

in'Vauxhall Garden, an entertainment resoft extending from Warren t0 Chambera
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One of the most active men in this enterprise was Hector St. John de
Creveococeur, ths Consul of France for New York, New Jersey and Comnectidut,
who with Jose Roiz Silva, 3ames Stewart and Henry Dufflin, became incorpoxated
on June 10, 1785,by the name of “Ths Trustees of the Roman Catholic Churoh
in the City of New York," As the Vauxhall Building was not entirsly suitable
for a place of worship, they applied to the Common Council of the City for
ths use on Sundays of the larze r¢om in the FExchange at the foot of Broad
Street, but when the petition wae not granted (because the building was
insscure) they resclved at once to build a church of their own.

Fether Charles Whelsn obtained from the Corporation of Trinity Church
a ground lease of five lots on the south side of Barclay Strest at the
southesst corner of Church Street. i carpenter-shop ¢n this land became a
temporary church for the Fomen Catholics on Manhettan Island.

Chronology in Stokes's Iconography, V: 1201, under April 30, 17835;

Shea, Life and Times of the Most Rev, John Barrell, 1888, pp.
266-67; Catholic Eneyecl., XI: 21, title "New York."

The project of erecting s Romen Cathollie Church in New York was advanced
not only by the snergy of the French Consul-General but alsc by the patronage
of Don Disego de Gardogui, the Spanish Minister to the United States. Father
Whelan and the trustees undertook to build the church by bravely adopting
a plan beyond their actual means, and hopefully looking foreward to future
progresze 1t was to be a handsome brick structure 48 foot front by 81 feat
in depth, with a square tower. They addressed petitions for ald to the
Kings of France and Spain, the latter being forewarded through Don Diego.

Results were so encoureging thet Don Diego laid the cornerstone on
Cctober 5, 1785, and named the ohurch St. Petsr's. The trustses wers not able,
however, to proceed with the work at once, but continued to collect funds
for the purpose in New York and in Europe.

Stokes, cited above, V. 1205, under date of October 5, 1785; citing

Shea, 280; the N.Y. Packet, October 10, 1785; ang Eeclesiastical
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An advertisement, published on May 28, 1786, announced that the ohurch was
to be built by contract, "Any master Carpenter or Masom, willing to under-
take the building of said Church, may sees the propossl and plens by sapplying
to Lyneh and Stoughton, No. 9 Princess Street."

Daily Advertissr, May 26, 1786,

Notice was published that the consecration would beheld on November 4,
1786, But the cersmony was postponed until further progress was made in the
building. Instead, as that day was the anniversary of St. Carlos {the feast
day of King Charles III of Spain, and in honor also of tha heir apparont.to
the Spanish throns who bore the same name), a solemn m&ass was hald.in the
unfinished church by the Rev. lir. Nugent, the rector, assisted by the chap-
lain of the Spsnish miniater and the Rev, Jose Phelan,.

Indepsndent Journal or General Advertiser, Nov., 4, 1786,

Four views of the first St. Pster’'s Church, which was:.in Georgian or
early Federal Style of architecture, are mentionsd by Mr. Stokes in hias
Iconography, above cited. One is an original drawing, without date, by John
MeComb, Jr., the architsot of the City Hsll, entitled "Front View of St,
Peter’s Church with intended Steepls,” which is filed with the McComb
collectiog in the New York Historical Society. This c¢learly indicates that
KeComb was the architect of the First St. Peter's., The seccond viawiﬁ glimpse
of the spire as it appsars in a view of the City in 1802, reproduced on
plate 7?7, Vel. III of ibid., and desoribed on pp.468-69. The third is plate
number 18 of the BourneSeries of New York Visws of 1831, listed in ibid.,
III: 597. The fourth is a scarce vignette view locking west from the Astor
Houses on Brosdway, inserted in the border of the Colton i#p of 1836-1840,
now hanging in the upper corridor of the New York Fublio Library, and

reproduced and described in ibid., Plate 124, III: 687-88.
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The Preaent Edifica: Itd Dats and Dasign
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All the foregoing is preliminery to an account of the present edifiwve.

By 1836, after the first oburch hsd bsen in use for 50 yeara snd was getting
into a ruinous condition, it was thought necessary to rebuild, As the '
congregation had outgrown its capacity, howsever, 1t was decided to take it

down and this was done, The cornsr-stone of the new church was laid on the.same
site on Cctober 26, 1838, by Bishop DuBois, and tha prgsant aubstantial

edifice of gtone, in the Tonic Style, was Bullt, having mors than twice the
oupacity of the former church.

Greenleaf, History of tha Churches of New York., 1846, p. 435.

in Septembar, 1837, public worship was commencsd intthe basement, and,
on Bebruary 25, 1838, the principal suditory was coneecratsd by Bishop
Eughes,

Ibid.; also Farley, History of St., Patrick's Uathedral, 1908,
p. 13; The Everzreen, 1248, p. 221,

The present church is s fine example of the G;ggkhﬁqviva}uperiod in
srohitecture. The building faoes north. Six immanse Jonic columns of granite,
four feet in dimmetsr at t eir basa, and with the entasis in the fashion
of the Parthenon, form a mejestic portico. Above its cornice of wood there
iz a pediment acroas the entire front. In a niche in ths center of the psd-
imant, a oarved woodan statua of St. Peter ia rscassed and sacurad to the
masoary bahind it by a heavy bolt, On tha ridge of ths roof nesr ths front ia
a huge oross, conastructed of haavy wood timboers which carry through the roof
and are securely framad and bolted to tha attic bsams.

The front of the chureh is built of dressed granite blocks. Franite
steps lsad up to the level of tha nave, and on either side of them are
grest granits "oheeks" whioh reoaiva the ands of the steps at right and
left, the firat faw ateps at the hottom returning sgainst the fronts of theas

blooks of ptones so these steps can be mounted from the sides,
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of rusticeted brownstone snd granite, with pilasters at the sxtreme north ib-

‘The exterior walls of the chapel, shown on the east elevation, &rs

and south ends.

The vest slevation has an areé below the sidewalk level along its entire
length, and the stonswork here is all granite with no rusticated stone.

The four exterior walle are originals except for slight changes in some
of the doors and windows. There are three huge pairs of ocak entrance doors
tha upper sections of which are fixed, Above the tall centcr doors is a marble
tablet bearing an Italian insoription; and flanking the others are inscribed
bronze tabletas,

Although many chenges have besn made in the interior, the original
ornamentsl celling of thénave has been largely preserved, Thers are 12 large
atalned glass windowe, and a fins marble akxtar,

A new organ loft has bean instslled in the chesncsl., The original gallery
for slavee, extended slong the two sides and rear of tha nsve. This gallery
has been replaced by e aingle gallery across the rear, Un this gallery the
originel organ front has been set back agelnst the rear wall,

As originally built, the chapel cccuplied the basement floor {with
gacristy and bdoilsr-room) the floor being dipped toward the front and the
ganctuary floor being appreximately on a level with the resr of the chapel.

Cne ralic of 014 St. Peter's remains -- the bell, 1t hsngs under the roof
of the presant church, although its tones have been silenced for many ysars,
It bmars the followlng Inscription: "iade under the inepection of Charles
Sherry at Nantes, 30 of June, 1806,"

{(From field notss of Frederick Ksyser, srchitect, New York City.)

A marble tsblet in the chureh states that the bullding was consecrated
Novenmer 22, 18685; renoveted and reopensd June 4, 19053 grand altar gonsecrated

Juns 4, 1905; and side sltars consecrated Deoember 30, 1905,

Written May 1st, 1934,~by
b2 evans Lt Hotedoded aa

Cf Yy :Z;é;”‘ Thomas W. Hotohkiss, <ZL¢‘ o
Approved: -‘JLLUgj”“ L. 118 Pine Street, Peekskill, N.Y. e




